1993

Woods Cross, a municipal corporation v. Craig Kirk : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has original jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, Section 78-2a-3(d).

V

ISSUES FOR REVIEW ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues on appeal are as follows:

Issues of Fact:

a) did the trial court err in concluding that the Appellant owned the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross, Utah?

b) did the trial court err in concluding that the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross, Utah is zoned A-1?

c) did the trial court err in concluding that the Appellant was violating the Zoning Ordinances of Woods Cross in the Appellant's use of the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross, Utah?

d) did the trial court err in concluding that the Affidavits of Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens made on personal knowledge and ,therefore, admissible in support of Appellee's Summary Judgment Motion?

Standard of review for issues of fact:

Issues of fact may be reversed on appeal only if they are

found to be clearly erroneous. Cornish Town v. Koller, 758 P.2d 919 (Utah 1988).

Issues of Law:

a) did the trial court err as a matter of law in granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment?

b) did the trial court err as a matter of law in concluding that there were no genuine issues of material fact present which precluded the trial court from granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment?

c) did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to grant the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss?

d) did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to hear and rule on the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss prior to ruling on the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment?

e) did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to hear or rule on the Appellant's Motions to Strike the Affidavits of Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens before granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment?

f) did the trial court err as a matter of law in concluding that Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens were competent to testify to the alleged facts set forth in their Affidavits?

g) did the trial court err as a matter of law in

Singelton v. Alexander, 19 Utah 2d 292, 431 P.2d 126 (1967)

Sorenson v. Beers, 585 P.2d 485 (Utah 1978)

State ex rel. Rd. Comm'n v. Petty, 17 Utah 2d 382, 412 P.2d 914 (Utah 1966)

Thompson v. Ford Motor Co., 16 Utah 2d 30, 395 P.2d 62 (1964)

Walker v. Rockey Mt. Recreation Corp., 29 Utah 2d 274, 508 P.2d 538 (1973)

Western States Thrift & Loan Co. v. Blomquist, 29 Utah 2d 58, 504 P.2d 1019 (Utah 1972)

Rules:

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56

Statutes:

Code Annotated 1953, as amended, Section 78-2a-3(d)

VII
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A)
NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal to this Court from the trial court's grant of Summary Judgment, entered on March 24, 1993, in favor of the Appellee and against the Appellant on Appellee's claims that the Appellee is entitled to a permanent injunction prohibiting the Appellant from using the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah for industrial and/or commercial

concluding that the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment was timely?

Standard of review for issues of law:

Issues of law are subject to de novo review by an appellate court, and the court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

VI

***DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES***

Cases:

Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982)

Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State,
779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989)

Bullock v. Desert Dodge Truck Ctr., Inc.,
11 Utah 2d 1, 354 P.2d 559 (1960)

Cornish Town v. Koller, 758 P.2d 919 (1988)

Downtown Athletic Club v. Horman, 740 P.2d 275
(Utah Ct. App.), cert denied, 65 P.2d 1277 (1987)

Freed Fin Co. v. Stoker Motor Co., 537 P.2d 1039
(Utah 1975)

Holbrook Co. V. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975)

Judkins v. Toone, 27, Utah 2d 17, 492 P.2d 980 (1972)

Lockhart v. Anderson, 646 P.2d 678 (Utah 1982)

Morris v. Farnsworth Motel, 123 Utah 289, 259 P.2d
297 (1953)

Sandberg v. Klein, 576 P.2d 1291 (Utah 1978)

8. The trial court never entertained any argument on the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss.

9. The trial court never entertained any argument on the Appellant's Motions to Strike the Affidavits of Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens.

10. On March 9, 1993, the trial court granted the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment.

11. The Summary Judgment Motion was entered on March 24, 1993.

12. The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on April 23, 1993.

(C)
DISPOSITION OF CASE AT TRIAL COURT

The trial court granted the Appellee's Summary Judgment Motion on April 9, 1993, without entertaining argument on or addressing the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss or his Motion to Strike or the Appellant's Counterclaim.

(D)
STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Appellant is the owner of real property located in Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 141, ¶ 4).

2. On August 12, 1992, the Appellee served the Appellant with a Summons and Complaint alleging that the Appellant was the owner of real property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 6).

uses, and that the Appellee is entitled to a permanent injunction prohibiting the Appellant from conducting a business on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City.

(B)
COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AT TRIAL COURT LEVEL

1. On August 12, 1992, the Appellee served the Appellant with a Summons and Complaint alleging that the Appellant was the owner of real property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. The Appellant filed an Amended Answer, on or about, October 19, 1992.

2. The Appellee filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, on or about, November 2, 1992.

3. The Appellant filed Motions to Strike the Affidavits of Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens, which were submitted in support of Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment, on or about December 8, 1992.

4. The Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss on or about December 18, 1992.

5. The Appellee filed a Notice to Submit its Summary Judgment Motion for decision on, or about, December 2, 1992.

6. The Appellant filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings on, or about, January 14, 1993.

7. The Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard on or about February 11, 1993.

3. In its Complaint, the Appellee alleged that the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah is zoned A-1 Agricultural. (Record at page 1-2).

4. In paragraph No. 4 of its Complaint, the Appellee asserts that the Appellant applied for a building permit to build a barn on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 2).

5. In paragraph No. 6 of its Complaint, the Appellee alleges that the Appellant is using the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, for industrial purposes in violation of the Woods Cross City zoning ordinances. (Record at page 2-3).

6. In paragraphs 9-10, the Appellee asserts that it is entitled to a permanent injunction prohibiting the Appellant from using the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, for industrial and/or commercial uses. (Record at page 3).

7. In paragraphs 12-13, the Appellee asserts that it is entitled to a permanent injunction prohibiting the Appellant from conducting a business on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 4).

8. The Appellant is not the owner of the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 141, ¶ 2).

9. The Appellant has never claimed to own the property

located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 141, ¶ 2).

10. The property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, is on the opposite side of the street from the property owned by the Appellant that is located on 500 South in Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 141, ¶ 3).

11. The Appellant does not conduct any business on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 141, ¶ 5).

12. The Appellant does not park any of his vehicles or equipment on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. (Record at page 141, ¶ 7).

13. The property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, is not zoned A-1, but rather is zoned I-1. (Record at page 60).

14. The Appellant filed an Answer on, or about, September 1, 1992. (Record at page 10-23).

15. The Appellant filed an Amended Answer on, or about, October 19, 1992. (Record at page 30-36).

16. The Appellee filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on, or about, November 2, 1992. (Record at page 38).

17. The Appellant filed Motions to Strike the Affidavits of Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens, which were submitted in support of Appellee's

Motion for Summary Judgment, on or about, December 8, 1992.
(Record at page 85-109).

18. The Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss on, or about, December 18, 1992. (Record at page 129-143).

19. The Appellee filed a Notice to Submit its Summary Judgment Motion for decision on, or about, December 22, 1993. (Record at page 173).

20. The Appellant filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings on, or about, January 14, 1993. (Record at page 184).

21. The Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard on, or about, February 11, 1993. (Record at page 217).

22. The trial court never entertained argument on the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss. (Record at page 213-214).

23. The trial court never entertained argument on the Appellant's Motions to Strike the Affidavits of Brent Stephenson, Gayle Stephenson, Leslie Gertsch, Duro Gertsch, and Tim Stephens. (Record at page 213-214).

24. The trial court never entertained argument on the Appellant's Counterclaim or Affirmative Defenses. (Record at page 213-214).

25. On March 24, 1993, the trial court granted the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Record at page 217-218).

26. Summary Judgment in favor of the Appellee was entered on March 24, 1993. (Record at page 217).

27. The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on April 23, 1993. (Record at page 221-222).

28. On October 14, 1993 the trial Court granted Appellant's Motion for a Stay Pending Appeal. (Record at page 231).

VIII *SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT*

The trial court erred, both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law, in granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court erred, both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law, in concluding that the Appellee was entitled to summary judgment on its cause of action against the Appellant for conducting business without a license. The trial court erred, as a matter of law, in granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Appellant's Counterclaim and/or affirmative defenses. The trial court erred, as a matter of law, in granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment without first ruling on the Appellant's Motion to Dismiss Appellee's complaint and without first ruling on Appellant's Motions to Strike the affidavits submitted in support of Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. The trial court erred, as a matter of law, in ruling on Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment before the Appellant had the opportunity to conduct discovery and submit evidence on his Counterclaim and affirmative defenses.

IX
ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BOTH AS A MATTER OF FACT AND AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT GRANTED THE APPELLEE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF FACT AND LAW IN GRANTING THE APPELLEE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS CAUSE OF ACTION FOR A PERMANENT INJUNCTION.

With respect to Appellee's cause of action for a "Permanent Injunction", the trial court erred both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law in concluding that there was no a genuine issue of fact with respect to whether or not the Appellant is violating any Woods Cross City zoning ordinances. Because the Appellant is not the owner of the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, has never conducted any business on that property nor ever parked any vehicles on that property, the trial court erred both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law in concluding that the Appellant is violating any Woods Cross City zoning ordinances.

Additionally a genuine issue of fact exists as to the actual zoning of the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. The Appellee asserts that the property is zoned A-1; however, the Woods Cross City Zoning Map shows the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah is zoned I-1 rather than A-1.

Because there are genuine issues of fact present in this case, the Appellee was not entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law. It takes only one sworn statement to dispute averments on the other side of a controversy and create an issue of fact, precluding summary judgment. Holbrook Co. V. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah 1975). The Affidavit filed by the Appellant disputed the Appellee's statement of facts in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment and created genuine issues of material fact in this case.

On a motion for summary judgment the adverse party is entitled to have the court survey the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to him. Bowen v. Riverton City, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982); Thompson v. Ford Motor Co., 16 Utah 2d 30, 395 P.2d 62 (1964); Morris v. Farnsworth Motel, 123 Utah 289, 259 P.2d 297 (1953). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court may only consider facts that are not in dispute. Sorenson v. Beers, 585 P.2d 485 (Utah 1978).

In this case the trial court ignored the disputed facts and weighed the evidence. On summary judgment a court cannot consider the weight of testimony or credibility of witnesses; the court simply determines whether or not a material issue of facts is present in the case and whether or not one party should prevail as a matter of law. Sandberg v. Klein, 576 P.2d 1291 (Utah 1978); Singelton v. Alexander, 19 Utah 2d 292, 431 P.2d 126

(1967). Therefore, the trial court committed prejudicial and reversible error, both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law in granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. Consequently, the trial court's decision must be reversed and remanded.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT BOTH AS A MATTER OF FACT AND AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLEE WAS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ITS CAUSE OF ACTION FOR CONDUCTING BUSINESS WITHOUT A LICENSE.

At the trial court level, the Appellee did not produced one iota of evidence which supported its assertion that the Appellant is conducting business on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, with or without a business license. The only evidence before the trial court with respect to the Appellant's alleged use of the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, are statements from several individuals wherein they state that they have seen large trucks enter and leave the property and seen trucks and/or equipment parked on the property.

Trucks entering and leaving property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, or trucks parked on the property does not establish the existence of a business on the property. Furthermore, the Appellant does not own the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, and, therefore, the Appellant is not liable nor responsible for the

activities which might occur on the property. Additionally, the Appellant stated in his uncontested Affidavit that he is not conducting any business activity on the property, that he has no telephone on the property and that he stores no material on the property. A party may not rely on allegations in the pleadings to counter affidavits made upon personal knowledge stating facts contrary to those alleged in pleadings. Freed Fin Co. v. Stoker Motor Co., 537 P.2d 1039 (Utah 1975).

Because the Appellee did not produce, and cannot produce, any evidence supporting its assertion that the Appellant is conducting any business on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, and because the Appellee did not file any affidavits contradicting the Appellant's Affidavit specifically declaring that he is not conducting business on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, the trial court committed prejudicial and reversible error, both as a matter of fact and as a matter of law, in granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. Consequently, the trial court's decision must be reversed and remanded.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE APPELLEE WAS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In order for the Appellee to prevail on its Motion for Summary Judgment at the trial court level, the Appellee had to

demonstrate that: 1) there were no issues of material fact present in this matter which precluded the trial court from granting Summary Judgment in favor of the Appellee, and 2) that the Appellee was entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law. As established in by Appellant's Memorandum in Opposition to Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment, genuine issues of material fact are present which preclude the trial court from granting the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. Furthermore, the Appellee did not, and could not, establish that it was entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law.

It is an indisputable principal of law that on a summary judgment motion, the trial court must review the facts and law in the light most favorable to the party against whom Summary Judgment is sought. See Judkins v. Toone, 27, Utah 2d 17, 492 P.2d 980 (1972). A summary judgment must be supported by evidence, admissions and inferences which, when viewed in the light most favorable to the loser, show that "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law" such showing must preclude all reasonable possibility that the loser could, if given a trial, produce evidence which reasonably sustain a judgment in his favor. Bullock v. Desert Dodge Truck Ctr., Inc., 11 Utah 2d 1, 354 P.2d 559 (1960). Therefore, because the Appellee did not, and cannot, demonstrate that the Appellant has engaged in any prohibited activity, on the property located at

1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah, the Appellee was not entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law. Even if there is no genuine issue of material fact, summary judgment is proper only if the pleadings and other documents demonstrate that the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. Lockhart v. Anderson, 646 P.2d 678 (Utah 1982).

In order for the Appellee to assert that it is legally entitled to a permanent injunction against the Appellant, the Appellee must first establish that the Appellant has engaged in some prohibited action sought to be enjoined. The Appellee did not establish that the Appellant is engaging any such prohibited activities on the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah. Nor did the Appellee demonstrate that any of the alleged actions, even if committed by the Appellant, are a violation of the Woods Cross City zoning ordinances. Therefore, the Appellee did not establish that it is entitled to Summary Judgment as a matter of law. The trial court committed prejudicial and reversible error when it granted the Appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment. Consequently, the trial court's decision must be reversed and remanded.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN GRANTING THE APPELLEE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIM AND/OR AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES.

At the trial court level, the Appellee asserted that it was

entitled to Summary Judgment on the Appellant's Counterclaim for the reason that the Appellant had not exhausted his administrative remedies. The Appellee then cited the trial court to a number of cases wherein a party was precluded from asserting certain causes of action or raising certain defenses because that party failed to exhaust their administrative remedies by failing to request any relief from the appropriate administrative agency. Those cases were not applicable to the facts of this case for the reason that the Appellant was attempting to exhaust his administrative remedies while the Appellee was seeking to preclude the Appellant from exhausting those remedies through this litigation.

In the cases cited by the Appellee, the parties were only precluded from asserting defenses or claims for the reason that they had not attempted to solve their dilemmas through appropriate administrative procedures. In the instant matter, unlike the parties in the cases cited by the Appellee, the Appellant attempted to follow the appropriate administrative procedure with respect to his property located at 1473 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah.

The Appellant timely and properly petitioned Woods Cross City for a change in the zoning of his property. The Woods Cross Zoning Commission granted that petition. The Woods Cross City Council, however, subsequently denied the Appellant's petition

for no specified reason, and the Appellant filed an appeal of that denial with the Second District Court.

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