1993

Woods Cross City, a municipal corporation v. Craig Kirk : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Kirk failed to exhaust administrative remedies regarding the issues raised in his Counterclaim and affirmative defenses and the trial court was correct in dismissing the same.

Kirk may not raise for the first time on appeal the argument that he did not have adequate opportunity for discovery prior to summary judgment. This argument is meritless anyway and should not preclude summary judgment in the City's favor.

The trial court did address and rule on Kirk's Motion to Dismiss, Motion to Strike Affidavits and Motion to Stay Proceedings. Kirk's argument that these items were not entertained by the Court is specious and does not preclude summary judgment in the City's favor.

Finally, Kirk's appeal is based upon frivolous arguments and is pursued for purposes of delay and in bad faith. Pursuant to Utah R. App. P. 33, the City should be awarded damages, double costs and attorneys fees incurred as a result of this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING THE CITY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST KIRK AS THERE EXIST NO ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT AND THE CITY IS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. THERE EXIST NO ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACTS.

The undisputed facts in this case are as follows. Kirk owns property located at approximately 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross, Utah, hereinafter referred to as "the Property." The Property is zoned Agricultural A-1 under the Revised Ordinances of Woods Cross, Utah. Kirk built a structure on the Property pursuant to a Building Permit obtained from the City wherein

Kirk's agent described the structure as a "barn" and listed the location of the Property as "1450 West 500 South," Woods Cross. Kirk is using the Property and the "barn" to park large asphalt paving trucks and equipment used in his patching and paving business.

Kirk does not contest the fact that the Property is zoned A-1 or that it is being used in violation of the Woods Cross City zoning ordinances. Kirk's appeal is based solely on the contention that Kirk "is not the owner of the property located at 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah . . ." and therefore has never conducted any business on that property or ever parked any vehicles on that property. Appellant's Brief at p. 15.

Kirk's argument is specious, non-meritorious and frivolous. As the City discussed in its Motion for Summary Disposition, there is no issue of fact regarding the location of the property involved in this case. Kirk owns *some* property in the area of 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, which is zoned A-1 and which Kirk is using to park and store large commercial vehicles and equipment. No address has been given to the property, so the parties have been referring to the property as merely that located at "approximately 1450 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah." Even Kirk used this reference to his property when applying for a building permit with the City. Kirk now claims that the property he owns is "1473 West 500 South, Woods Cross City, Utah." This contention is based upon a random assignment of numbering from Utah Power & Light as noted in Kirk's bill from

the Company. Despite Kirk's argument, only the City can assign an address to a property (see Affidavit of Scott Anderson attached to the City's Reply to Kirk's Memorandum in Opposition to the City's Motion for Summary Judgment). As testified to in the Affidavit of Scott Anderson, the Public Works Director of Woods Cross City, no address has been assigned to the Property. (Affidavit of Scott Anderson at ¶ 3.) Thus, referring to the Property as that located at "approximately 1450 West 500 South" is sufficiently clear for purposes of this case. Regardless, the Judgment of the Circuit Court does not specifically refer to "1450 West 500 South" anyway, but merely refers to "property which is located on the south side of 500 South and west of 1400 West" (Judgment at ¶ 1 (March 24, 1993)).

Furthermore, the trial court addressed Kirk's "incorrect address" argument which was raised in both Kirk's Memorandum in Opposition to the City's Motion for Summary Judgment and in Kirk's Motion to Dismiss. The trial court found as a matter of fact that the Property at issue was properly identified. At the oral argument before the trial court, Judge Johnson specifically asked Kirk's attorney if Kirk owned property in the area to which the pleading referred. Kirk's attorney answered in the affirmative. Judge Johnson further explained that he did not want there to be any misunderstanding or issue regarding the property the parties were talking about. Kirk's attorney agreed, thereby consenting to the fact that he knows what property the case involves, that such property is zoned A-1, and that the

Property is being used for parking and storing of large commercial vehicles and equipment.

These conclusions are not disputed by any evidence submitted by Kirk. Kirk contends that the Affidavit he filed in opposition to the City's Motion for Summary Judgment "created a genuine issue of material fact in this case." Kirk's Brief at 16. While it is conceded in Amica Mutual Insurance Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950, 952 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), that "[o]ne sworn statement under oath is all that is necessary to create a factual issue, thereby precluding the entry of summary judgment," the court also noted that "when the moving party has presented evidence sufficient to support a judgment in its favor, and the opposing party fails to submit contrary evidence, a trial court is justified in concluding that no genuine issue of fact is present or would be at trial." Amica, 768 P.2d at 953 (citation omitted). In addition, the Utah Supreme Court has noted that affidavits in opposition to a Motion for Summary Judgment must contain specific evidentiary facts that would be admissible in evidence showing there is a genuine issue for trial. Treloggan v. Treloggan, 699 P.2d 747 (Utah 1985).¹ Kirk's Affidavit fails to meet the required standard as it presents no specific evidence contrary to the facts establishing that Kirk owns property at approximately 1450 West 500 South which Kirk is using in

¹ See also, Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e) which states that "[s]upporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to matters stated therein."

violation of Woods Cross City zoning ordinances. Wherefore, the trial court was justified in concluding that no genuine issue of fact is present or would be at trial.

Kirk contends that there exists an issue of material fact regarding the City's allegation that Kirk is using his property for conducting a business without a license. Much of this claim is based upon Kirk's specious argument that he does not own the property located at 1450 West 500 South in Woods Cross, and therefore is not responsible for what takes place on such property. Kirk's Affidavit merely says that he is not conducting a business, or storing vehicles or using a phone on property located at 1450 West 500 South because he does not own such property. Kirk's Affidavit does not and cannot say that he has not built a structure on property located in the vicinity of 1450 West 500 South or that he is not parking and storing large commercial vehicles. As noted above, the property referenced in the pleading notes "approximately 1450 West 500 South in Woods Cross." Kirk knows what property this case involves and has failed to controvert any fact or create an issue of material fact regarding his use of the Property for conducting a business without a license and in violation of the Woods Cross City zoning ordinances.

In addition, regardless of whether there is enough evidence to support summary judgment on Kirk's use of his property without a business license, summary judgment is appropriate in this case. Summary judgment may be granted upon any number of established

violations of the Woods Cross City zoning ordinances. Thus, the trial court need not have found as a matter of fact or law that Kirk was conducting business without a license, since it found as a matter of fact and law that he was parking and storing large commercial vehicles and equipment on the Property in violation of the zoning ordinances entitling the City to injunctive relief.

B. THE CITY IS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The City is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Woods Cross zoning ordinances provide as a matter of law that land zoned for Agricultural A-1 may be used for:

- (A) agriculture;
- (B) single family dwelling;
- (C) horticulture;
- (D) accessory uses including:
 - (1) accessory buildings which are customarily used in conjunction with, and incidental to, the principal use or structure;
 - (2) swimming pools;
 - (3) home occupations;
 - (4) household pets;
 - (5) storage of materials used for construction of a building;

Section 12-10-102 of the Revised Ordinances of Woods Cross, Utah, 1992. Kirk's use of the Property to park and store paving trucks and equipment is use of the Property for industrial and/or commercial purposes. Such use is not permitted under Section 12-10-102, and is therefore in violation of the Woods Cross zoning ordinances as a matter of law. Under Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1002 (1992), the City is entitled to obtain an injunction prohibiting Kirk's further industrial and/or commercial use of the Property.

Furthermore, the City "need only establish the violation [of the ordinance] to obtain the injunction." Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1002(1)(b) (1992). A specific showing of irreparable injury is not required in an action by the City to enjoin a violation of its zoning ordinances as "a showing that the zoning ordinance has been violated is tantamount to a showing of irreparable injury" Utah County v. Baxter, 635 P.2d 61, 65 (Utah 1981). A specific showing of damages is also not required. Harris v. Springville City, 712 P.2d 188 (Utah 1984). Under the applicable laws, ordinances and undisputed facts, the City is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law and the trial court's finding should be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING THE CITY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT REGARDING THE DISMISSAL OF KIRK'S COUNTERCLAIM AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES.

Kirk has not properly exhausted his administrative remedies regarding the issues raised in his Counterclaim and affirmative defenses and therefore the trial court properly granted the City's Motion for Summary Judgment regarding such claims. It is well-established law that failure to exhaust administrative remedies prevents one from seeking relief from the courts. Merrihew v. Salt Lake County Planning, 659 P.2d 1065 (Utah 1983). The Utah Supreme Court noted in Merrihew: "[w]e do not reach the issue of the validity of the zoning ordinance because we hold that the Plaintiff's failure to exhaust administrative remedies prevents him from seeking relief at this time from the courts."

Merrihew, 659 P.2d at 1067. The Utah Legislature has also recognized the importance of exhausting administrative remedies in the area of local land use and planning. Section 10-9-1001(1) of the Utah Code Annotated provides:

No person may challenge in district court a municipality's land use decisions made under this chapter or under the regulation made under authority of this chapter until that person has exhausted his administrative remedies.

Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1001(1) (1992).

In essence, Kirk's Counterclaim and affirmative defenses request the court to re-zone the Property from A-1 to I-1 or to grant a non-conforming use permit to allow Kirk to use the Property to store and park large commercial vehicles and equipment. It would have been improper for the trial court to entertain such a request as there exists administrative procedures and remedies for Kirk to exhaust prior to raising such claims before the court. Under Woods Cross City ordinances and Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-101, et seq., Kirk should have filed an application for re-zone or for a non-conforming use permit with the City Planning Commission setting forth all the reasons why the Property should be re-zoned. The decision of the Planning Commission, if adverse to Kirk, could then be appealed to the City Council. The City Council's decision, if adverse to Kirk could then be appealed to the District Court. Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1001 (1992).

Subsequent to this action by the City against Kirk, Kirk filed an application for re-zone of his Property from A-1 to I-1

with the City Planning Commission. The City Council ultimately denied Kirk's re-zone request and Kirk filed an appeal of that decision with the Second District Court. The appeal to the Second District Court is in its discovery stage. The application for re-zone and appeal in the Second District Court is the correct procedure for determining the issues raised in Kirk's Counterclaim. They should not be entertained by this Court in conjunction with the present case regarding Kirk's violations of existing Woods Cross zoning ordinances.

If Kirk's argument is taken to its logical extreme, any person could entirely circumvent the City's re-zone and permit application process. Under Kirk's argument, rather than requesting a property re-zone or conditional use permit from the local government, a property owner could simply use his or her property in violation of local ordinances, and when the local government brought an action for violation of its ordinances, the property owner could counterclaim asking the court to re-zone the property. This is not allowed, however, as the Utah Legislature has specifically delegated land use and zoning decisions to local authorities not the courts. In addition, the administrative remedies of the local jurisdiction must be exhausted prior to seeking relief from the courts. Utah Code Ann. § 10-9-1001(1) (1992). Kirk's argument also incorrectly implies that a person may violate current city ordinances if an application for re-zone has been filed with the city or if a challenge has been made to the applicable ordinance. Once again, this is not the case as

property owners must comply with current law until and unless otherwise permitted by re-zone, conditional use permit or judicial determination.

Kirk's use of his Property in violation of the Woods Cross zoning ordinances is not exempted simply because he has filed for a re-zone with the City. Nor is it for this Court or the trial court to determine whether such re-zone should be granted, absent exhaustion of administrative remedies already provided by state and local law.² Finally, despite Kirk's argument, an "attempt" to exhaust administrative remedies is not sufficient to qualify as exhaustion of administrative remedies.

III. THE NEW ISSUES PRESENTED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL DO NOT JUSTIFY OVERTURNING THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN THE CITY'S FAVOR.

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS NOT PROHIBITED IN THIS CASE BY KIRK'S ARGUMENT RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL THAT HE DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE OPPORTUNITY TO CONDUCT DISCOVERY.

Summary Judgment in the City's favor should not be overturned on the grounds that Kirk did not have adequate opportunity to conduct discovery. First, Kirk raises this issue for the first time on appeal. It is well-established law that issues not raised below may not be addressed for the first time

² See Provo City v. Claudin, 63 P.2d 570 (Utah 1936), discussed in the City's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment at p. 11, wherein the Utah Supreme Court declined to hear the Claudin's substantive argument regarding the constitutionality of Provo's zoning ordinance as applied to the Claudin's since the Claudin's had failed to first exhaust administrative remedies provided under Provo ordinances.

on appeal. Smith v. Iversen, 848 P.2d 677 (Utah 1993). In Smith, the Utah Supreme Court declined to consider an argument which was not adequately framed in the pleadings nor adequately raised in the summary judgment motion or supporting memorandum, and noted "it is fundamental that the trial court should have the first opportunity to address issues later raised on appeal." Smith, 848 P.2d at 677 (citations omitted). Furthermore, Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment may submit an affidavit stating the reasons why he or she needs more opportunity for discovery prior to entry of summary judgment. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f). Kirk failed to raise the issue of "adequate discovery" in his Memorandum in Opposition to the City's Motion for Summary Judgment, at oral argument before the trial court, under a Rule 56(f) Motion, or in any other pleadings submitted to the Court. The issue may not now be raised or considered by the Court for the first time on appeal.

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